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History of Ebenezer Church at Manheim, 

TX 

--- 

First Installment 

 

 In September of the year 1890 the 

congregation was overjoyed because they 

could install their first minister. Pastor 

Wenzel was installed by Dr. Birkmann 

who was then pastor in Fedor. The 

Ebenezer congregation at Manheim was 

the first call in the performance of his 

official duty in the Missouri Synod for 

Pastor A. Wenzel. He was previously a 

member of the Texas Synod which he 

joined after he emigrated here from 

Germany. He left this synod with two 

other pastors, a Pastor J. H. Sieck who was 

active for many years in Walburg, and 

Pastor Jesse, later of St. Louis. 

 The first child who was baptized 

by Pastor A. Wenzel was Hermann Otto 

Richter, son of Carl Richter. In the year 

1891 only two were confirmed, Anna and 

Gustav Fichte. From these, Anna, now 

Mrs. Thiele, is still living. 

 From the very beginning the 

congregation knew the necessity of a 

school. In the first years, the pastors 

themselves taught school because the 

congregation was too poor to hire a 

teacher. 

 The ministry of Pastor Wenzel in 

the congregation was for only a short time. 

After three years he took another call. In 

the year 1893 Pastor Gesterling accepted 

the call to the congregation. After two 

years he took a different call. In 1895 

Pastor C. W. Rische came as minister of 

the congregation. He served the 

congregation faithfully for ten years with 

the school. As he in the year 1905 took the 

call to Rose Hill, the congregation was 

once more without a minister. While they 

extended many calls to no avail, the 

congregation finally had to satisfy herself 

with a vicar. Vicar Streckfusz served in the 

school and preached. However, Pastor 

Moerbe, then of Giddings, served the 

congregation as vacancy pastor. This 

arrangement lasted about three years, for 

Vicar Streckfusz passed his exams and was 

called as pastor of the congregation in 

1908. During the beginning of 1910 he 

took a call to Dallas. 

 During these years the present 

church building was built on the place 

where she still stands today. Here we can 

see God’s blessings which He displayed on 

the members. Indeed, the congregation 

grew slowly, however she grew in her 

inner awareness of true worth.  

 

Ending follows. 

http://www.wendishresearch.org/


Provided by Wendish Research Exchange, www.wendishresearch.org  

 

 After Pastor Streckfusz took the 

call to Dallas, Pastor Osthoff from Lincoln 

served as vacancy pastor. The 

congregation called many others until 

finally Pastor L. Heinemeier accepted the 

call. Under his leadership the congregation 

made good progress. In the year 1914 the 

school was built and more land was 

bought. The number of students also grew 

so much so that it was impossible for the 

pastor to also administer the school. Thus, 

the congregation in the year 1915-16 

employed Vicar Kaase, and in the year 

1917-18 Vicar Duessel. However, then the 

members knew that it was necessary to call 

a stationary/established teacher. So, at the 

end of the year 1918, Teacher Twenhafel 

was called who faithfully served the 

congregation for 17 years. In the year 1920 

Pastor L. Heinemeier took a call to 

Vernon. Again, the congregation was 

without a pastor for almost a year. Pastor 

C. W. Fischer served in the interim as 

vacancy pastor. Finally, in 1921 Pastor C. 

W. Rische returned and faithfully served 

the congregation until his sudden death in 

1935. 

 The number of students grew so 

significantly that it was necessary for the 

teacher to have an assistant. Already at the 

beginning of 1936, several months after 

the death of Pastor Rische, Teacher 

Twenhafel also needed to lay aside/resign 

his office due to sickness. The future for 

the congregation looked bleak because of 

debt and it looked like the congregation 

would abrogate. But the almighty God, in 

His council, had determined otherwise. 

 The congregation through diligent 

prayers and determination decided again to 

call. Pastor Remmert served the 

congregation in the interim as vacancy 

pastor. Vicar Lange, now a pastor in 

Wilson, served in the school in the year 

1936. 

 In May of 1936, Pastor A. O. 

Kaltwasser was installed. Vicar Bielefeldt, 

now a pastor in Wallis, served in the 

school in 1937. The following year Vicar 

E. Nerger, now pastor in Galveston, and 

last year Vicar C. Heckmann. 

 By the end of 1938, Pastor 

Kaltwasser took a call to Herold. At the 

beginning of 1939 the present minister was 

installed by Pastor A. F. Michalk. At the 

same time, the congregation decided to 

call a permanent teacher. Teacher Eldon 

Heintze was called and in August of 1939 

installed. He serves faithfully and with rich 

blessings in the congregation school. 

 In the past 50 years of the 

congregation, 482 were baptized, 886 were 

confirmed. The Ebenezer congregation 

now has a membership of 50; 184 

communicants; 283 souls, and 41 children 

attend the school.   E. F. Riske, Pastor 

 

Translated by Thomas Obersat 
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